IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-WC-01511-COA

MISSISSIPPI SECURITY POLICE and COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INSURANCE COMPANY Appellants

V.

SUSAN PATTERSON Appellee

On Appeal from an Order Affirming Workers' Compensation Appeal by the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi

(Oral Argument Requested)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

JEFFREY S. MOFFETT – MSB # MARKOW WALKER, P.A. 2113 Government Street, Bldg M. Ocean Springs, Mississippi 39564 Telephone: (228) 872-1923 Facsimile: (228) 872-1973 Counsel for the Appellants

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SUSAN PATTERSON

CLAIMANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-00,515(1)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
FACTS	
SUMMARY C	DF THE ARGUMENT 13
ARGUMENT	
	1.Standard of Review132.Applicable Law143.Analysis14
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICAT	E OF SERVICE
RECORD EXCERPTS ATTACHED SEPARATELY	
1.	Opinion of Administrative Law Judge Melba Dixon
2.	Order by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and dissent by Chairman Liles Williams
3.	Order affirming by the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi
4.	December 20, 2005 office record of Dr. Fineburg
5.	March 14, 2006 office notation of telephone call to Dr. McCloskey's clinic
6.	March 16, 2006 office notation of telephone call to Dr. McCloskey's clinic
7.	March 17, 2006 letter by Dr. Fineburg

- : .

.

i

i

1

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Central Electric Power Assn. v. Hicks, 110 So. 2d 351 (Miss. 1959)
Penrod Drilling Co. v. Etheridge, 487 So. 2d 1330 (Miss. 1986)
Westmoreland v. Landmark Furniture, Inc., 752 So. 2d 444 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)13
White v. Superior Products, Inc., 515 So. 2d 924 (Miss. 1987)

: .

i

i

i

i

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. The Administrative Law Judge erred as a matter of law and fact in finding Claimant sustained a work related injury where the decision was based upon Claimant's testimony and the substantial weight of the medical records and other evidence introduced at trial contradict Claimant's testimony in every material respect.

1.

\$

i

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal of a workers' compensation order determining compensability arises out of a back injury allegedly sustained by Claimant while working in the course and scope of her employment as a security guard for Mississippi Security Policy (hereinafter "MSP") on November 19, 2005. The Employer and Carrier deny the incident occurred as alleged or, assuming it did, that this incident necessitated Claimant's subsequent medical treatment, including two back surgeries.

On February 28, 2008, trial was held before the Honorable Melba Dixon, Administrative Law Judge for the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. The evidence presented at trial indicated Claimant not only failed to report any work injury to her medical providers for several months but, more importantly, expressly denied a work injury to her initial doctor. Four months after the alleged injury, and after she learned returning to work was impossible, Claimant reported two different injuries to two different doctors. Notwithstanding this evidence, the Administrative Judge found Claimant sustained a compensable injury while working on November 19, 2005 and related this to Claimant's subsequent medical treatment.

The Employer/Carrier appealed from this Order to the full Commission, relying principally upon the divergence between Claimant's testimony and the testimony of her initial treating physician and the medical records. The Commission entered an Order affirming the Administrative Judge's initial Order without additional comment on September 25, 2008. The Circuit Court of Jackson County subsequently affirmed the decision on August 20, 2009.

The Administrative Law Judge's Order did not directly address the discrepancies between Claimant's testimony, the medical records and her initial doctor's deposition. The Order made only a summary reference to "inconsistencies" without further explanation. The summary affirmation by the full Commission and the Order of the Circuit Court likewise addressed none of these issues directly. Only Chairman Liles Williams' dissent from the full Commission Order made specific mention of the contradictory evidence and Chairman Williams concluded that "not only is this a doubtful claim, it is downright hard to believe, and is not supported by a preponderance of the credible evidence." The Employer/Carrier agree and, mindful of the very high burden they face in asking this Court to revisit a lower court's factual determinations, now appeal and request this matter be reversed and rendered.

FACTS

Claimant began working for MSP in September 2005 as a security guard (R., p. 23) and was usually stationed in a guard shack at the Chevron facility in Pascagoula. (R., p. 26) She ordinarily worked with another MSP employee but claimed to have injured herself on November 19, 2005, one of the only times she was stationed alone at a different Chevron gate. (R., p. 26-27) Claimant contends she stepped from a truck and felt something "pull" in her right leg and back.¹ (R., p. 27) Claimant testified this was the only work injury she sustained. (R., p. 51)

Claimant completed her shift on November 19 and on the next night claims she told her shift supervisor, Brook Walters, she hurt herself without providing specific details.² (R., p. 27) Mr. Walters' allegedly laughed and drove away without comment. (R., p. 27) Mr. Walters was not present at trial but James Wilson, her companion in the guard shack, testified in support of

i

¹The opinion and Order issued by the Administrative Judge stated Claimant testified she "fell" from the truck. (Exhibit A to Brief, ALJ Order, p. 3)

²Claimant's shift supervisor was Brook Walters. (R., p. 25). Russ Gardner and John Hyde were the primary MSP supervisors at Chevron. (R., p. 25).

this encounter but said Claimant provided considerable detail about her injury to Mr. Walters. (R., p. 66)

Mr. Wilson, who left MSP's employ a week after this alleged conversation, testified he told Claimant to report the incident to someone else. (R., p. 66) Claimant never again attempted to speak with Mr. Walters about her alleged injury (R., p. 28-29, 36-37) and she never make any attempt to raise the issue of her alleged injury or Mr. Walter's response with anyone else.³ Claimant's last date of employment with MSP was January 20, 2006 and, during those two months, Claimant never discussed the matter with the primary MSP supervisors at the Chevron facility, John Hyde and Russell Gardner. (R., p. 38) She concedes Mr. Gardner was a family friend she had known for years. (R., p. 26)

Claimant's first medical visit after November 19, 2005 was just over one month later with Dr. Paul Fineburg on December 20, 2005. She claims to have told Dr. Fineburg three very specific things: she injured her back while working for MSP on November 19, 2005 when stepping from a truck. (R., p. 29) However, Dr. Fineburg's record for this visit provides the following history:

> This is the initial visit of this 29 year old female. She is in with back pain. It <u>started a week ago</u>. It got progressively worse over the last two days. There was <u>no specific injury or inciting event</u>. She <u>woke</u> <u>up with it sore</u> one day. It seems to be going down her right buttock. Her right great toe was numb the other day. It seems to have resolved. She has had <u>intermittent low back problems in the past</u>. None have ever required surgery or missing significant work. She has <u>no history of low back injuries</u>.

Record Excerpt No. 1 to Brief (Emphasis applied). (Also available as attachment to E/C Trial

³Mr. Walters left MSP's employ in January 2006 prior to Claimant's last day of work.

Exhibit 3 and E/C Trial Exhibit 5)

Dr. Fineburg's December 20, 2005 medical record was discussed point by point at trial. (R., p. 30-32) Claimant denied giving this history or that the information recorded was true but Dr. Fineburg also testified in this case and he was certain this record was accurate for several reasons. First, he and his office "pay meticulous attention to whether it's going to be workers' comp or not...[because] its's usually filed under a completely different chart." (E/C Trial Exhibit 3, p. 7) In order to make sure work related injuries are recorded as such, in part because it affects how they are billed, Dr. Fineburg's staff asks the patient whether the injury happened at work when they first come in and the doctor himself asks <u>again</u> when taking the history from the patient. (E/C Trial Exhibit 3, p. 11-12) Dr. Fineburg's diagnosis is of course often informed by the mechanism of injury and, in reviewing his record when testifying, he knew Claimant was directly asked whether she sustained an injury because his record indicates she <u>answered</u> the question in the negative. (E/C Trial Exhibit 3, p. 12)

Misunderstandings can happen of course, but Dr. Fineburg was certain the office note accurately reflected what Claimant told him because <u>he dictated it with Claimant present in the</u> <u>examining room</u> on December 20, 2005. (E/C Exhibit 3, p. 39-40) In other words, Claimant listened to Dr. Fineburg say every word block quoted above from the office note. Claimant admitted Dr. Fineburg dictated this record right in front of her but she denied the dictation which appears in the medical record is actually what he said. (R., p. 32)

Claimant's report of something other than a work injury was not the only discrepancy between her testimony and the December 20, 2005 medical record. While Dr. Fineburg stated Claimant reported "intermittent low back problems in the past," she denied telling him this. (R., p. 31-32) Not only did she deny saying it, Claimant flatly denied she had any back problems requiring medical treatment in the five years preceding this alleged work accident. (R., p. 17-23) The Employer/Carrier's Composite Medical Exhibit 5 (an index is attached to the front) shows otherwise:

- 1. Singing River Hospital, October 24, 2001: Back pain over three weeks radiating into the left leg;
- 2. Singing River Hospital, November 25, 2001: Claimant taking Skelaxin due to back pain;
- 3. Singing River Hospital, January 14, 2002: Claimant taking Skelaxin for back pain, woke up unable to move due to back pain after lifting boxes at work the preceding day, taken off work for short period;
- 4. Singing River Hospital, December 19, 2002: Claimant had severe back pain registering 9/10 for previous week;
- 5. Coastal Family Medical Clinic, July 16, 2003; Claimant reported she suffered from lower back pain;
- 6. University Medical Center, November 17, 2003; Claimant reported she suffered from back pain due to a degenerated disc;
- 7. University Medical Center, December 8, 2003; Claimant reported she suffered from back pain;
- 8. University Medical Center, May 27, 2004; Claimant reported she suffered from back pain;
- 9. Singing River Hospital, October 2, 2004; Claimant reported back pain radiating into her right flank;
- 10. Singing River Hospital, October 19, 2004; Claimant reported back pain radiating into her right flank, told the physician she had disc problem in her back, physician told her she had low back pain with radiculopathy.

Just as she did when discussing Dr. Fineburg's record, Claimant refused to deal with the

reality of the ER records. She claimed the records misrepresented her actual condition and these

multiple emergency room visits had nothing to do with her back, but rather with "female" issues. (R., p. 19-20) In an effort to give Claimant the benefit of the doubt where warranted, she was asked at trial clarify why certain of the above medical records show her telling the doctors she had a <u>degenerated disc in her back</u>. (R., p. 22) Unable to dispute what appears in black and white, Claimant simply denied any recollection of these statements. (R., p. 22)

After seeing Dr. Fineburg on December 20, 2005, Claimant's condition worsened and she returned on January 13, 2006. (R., p. 33) There is again no mention of work related injury and Dr. Fineburg recommended an MRI and physical therapy. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Claimant complained to her physician about the costs associated with this but, despite her insistence a work injury was reported in December, she could not explain why Dr. Fineburg did not tell her medical treatment would be covered by workers' compensation. (R., 34-35)

Claimant's last day of work was the night of January 19-20, 2006 and by this point she had not reported any of her medical treatment to her employer. (R., p. 35-38). She left work at 5:00 a.m. on January 20 and <u>two days later</u> reported to the Singing River Hospital emergency room on Sunday, January 22, 2006. (R., p. 39) The record for the ER visit indicates her right leg had become almost paralyzed over the previous day and a half, i.e. <u>after</u> her last day of work. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Claimant specifically reported "no injury" to the hospital staff.

Claimant declined admission to the hospital on January 22 but returned to the emergency room near midnight on the night of January 23-24, 2006. (R., p. 41) She was admitted and emergency back surgery was performed on the afternoon of January 24, 2006 due to the presence of two very significant disc herniations. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) None of the records during her week long admission to the hospital give any indication of a work related injury. (E/C

7

Composite Medical Exhibit 5) To the contrary, the record dictated by Dr. Jason Hannegan at 2:17 p.m. on Tuesday, Jan 24, 2006 states Claimant was unsure of any trauma. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5)

According to Claimant, shortly after her discharge from the hospital on January 31, 2006, she received a telephone call from Tim Jesperson, the Director of Human Resources for MSP who terminated her employment during this call. (R., p. 42) In something of a *non sequitur*, Claimant testified she at this point remarked to Mr. Jesperson that she had never claimed her condition was not work related. (R., p. 43) Mr. Jesperson then allegedly took the details of her injury but told her she could not make a claim because too much time had passed. (R., p. 43)

Mr. Jesperson left MSP in July 2006 and currently works as Wal-Mart's director on human resources for stores located in the Florida panhandle and Alabama. (R., p. 70) Prior to his employment with MSP, Mr. Jesperson was workers' compensation compliance coordinator for Grand Casino Biloxi and Grand Casino Gulfport. (R., p. 71) He <u>voluntarily</u> returned to the State of Mississippi for trial in this case and his testimony concerning the interaction with Claimant is more plausible.

Mr. Jesperson confirmed he called Claimant after her discharge from the hospital to advise company policy required termination due to un-excused absence but he testified Claimant was asked to come by MSP's office to discuss the issue in person. (R., p. 81-82) He met with Claimant on or about February 3, 2006. (R., p. 81) Mr. Jesperson explained the company's policy on absence due to medical condition and advised Claimant she was ineligible for FMLA leave since she had not been employed the requisite time required by this statute. (R., p. 82) He also explained the distinction between the company's policy for non-work related condition and their policy of accommodation, where possible, for employees injured at work. (R., p. 82) It was then that Claimant interjected that she had never said her condition was not work related. (R., p. 82) Mr. Jesperson asked her specifically whether she was claiming to have had a work injury and, if so, for details of her injury by way of an incident report but Claimant declined to do so. (R., p. 82-83)

After this meeting with Mr. Jesperson on February 3, 2006 Claimant went to Dr. McCloskey's office the same day to have her staples removed. (R., p. 44) The medical record shows she reported her termination and she also apparently asked Dr. McCloskey or his staff whether her injury was work related. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) There is no indication she provided any details or history of a work related accident. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Indeed, Dr. McCloskey's records through February and early March continue to say nothing of a work injury. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5)

According to Dr. McCloskey's records, Claimant telephoned his office on March 13, 2006 requesting a release to return to work. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Dr. McCloskey provided an unrestricted work release that same day (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Also on March 13, Claimant returned to Dr. Fineburg but it is unclear whether this visit was before or after her telephone call to Dr. McCloskey. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) The visit with Dr. Fineburg appears primarily related to cold or flu issues, but it also states in part:

> She has had an interesting time frame since we last saw her [on January 13, 2006]. We had set her up for a MRI of her low back. She continued to work and did something at work basically bulged her disk out resulting in some paralysis. She subsequently had to undergo emergency lumbar surgery to resolve it.

(Emphasis applied) In other words, Claimant's first definitive report of a work injury was on

March 13, 2006 but she told Dr. Fineburg about a work accident resulting in paralysis that occurred "since [he] last saw her" on January 13, 2006.

Having procured the medical release from Dr. McCloskey on March 13, 2006, Claimant took it to MSP on March 14 but learned she had to take a physical. (R., p. 47) Claimant did not attend the physical because she knew it would be impossible for her to pass. (R., p. 47) This same day, March 14, she called Dr. McCloskey's office and reported a work injury to him:

> 3/14/06 [patient] calls - now attempting to file a w/c claim - needs something in writing stating her injury is work related - she was attempting to RTW but will be required to pass a physical which she can't do [at] this point.

Record Excerpt No. 2 to Brief. (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) Claimant had of course testified she reported a work injury to all her physicians from the very beginning, so she simply <u>denied</u> making this call to Dr. McCloskey. (R., p. 47)

Two days later, on March 16, Mr. Jesperson received a fax from Claimant's counsel advising him of Claimant's workers' compensation claim. (R., p. 84) Mr. Jesperson immediately requested statements from Chris Gilbert and Russell Gardner, the two primary MSP supervisors at Chevron,⁴ and prepared a First Report of Injury so the claim could be turned over to the workers' compensation carrier. (R., p. 85-86) The written statements from Mr. Gardner and Mr. Gilbert denying Claimant's report of work injury were part of the personnel file authenticated by Mr. Jesperson. The Administrative Law Judge allowed the authenticated personnel file into evidence but excluded the written statements taken from Mr. Gilbert and Mr. Gardner as

⁴Brook Walters, having left MSP in January 2006, was not available to give a statement to Mr. Jesperson by the time Claimant reported her injury.

hearsay.⁵ (R., p. 86-93)

The same day her counsel wrote to Mr. Jesperson, March 16, Claimant also called Dr. McCloskey again:

She is attempting to file a w/c claim, about the end of Nov, [first] of December, she was sitting in a diesel truck (one that's high off the ground) while working for MSP. She stepped out of the truck, when her right foot went down she felt something pull in Rt leg, this continued to worsen, she saw Dr. Fineburg a week or so later, was given pn meds which helped some, however her condition worsened and she ended up in the ER underwent MRI and surgery. Symptoms continued to progress and she has cont'd [unknown word] to this day.

Record Excerpt No. 3 to Brief (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) (abbreviations in the original)

This telephone call is the first time Claimant reported a November-December 2005 work injury.

As she had with the March 14 call, Claimant again denied this telephone call to Dr.

McCloskey. (R., p. 48) However, while none of Dr. McCloskey's records before this date mention a work injury, all of his records after March 16 specifically reference a work related injury sustained in December 2005. Three such records, dictated on March 29, March 30 and April 9, 2006 are attached as part of Employer/Carrier's composite Exhibit 5.

This same week, Claimant apparently requested Dr. Fineburg prepare a letter discussing the cause of her condition. Claimant also implausibly denied requesting this letter (R., p. 49-50) but, in any case, Dr. Fineburg prepared it on March 17, 2006. *Record Excerpt No. 4* to Brief (E/C Composite Medical Exhibit 5) He confirmed Claimant provided "no known history of injury" during her visit on December 20, 2005. He then outlined the extent of her complaints on

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