IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-WC-01511-COA

MISSISSIPPI SECURITY POLICE and COMMERCE & INDUSTRY INS. CO. Employer and Carrier/Appellants

V.

SUSAN PATTERSON Claimant/Appellee

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, AFFIRMING MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Jackye C. Bertucci P. O. Box 3269 Gulfport, MS 39505

Telephone: (228) 832-4220 Facsimile: (228) 832-4229

COUNSEL FOR CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SUSAN PATTERSON

CLAIMANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2009-01511-COA

MISSISSIPPI SECURITY POLICE AND

COMMERCE & INDUSTRY INS. CO.

EMPLOYER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is well settled that "courts may not hear evidence in compensation cases."

Westmoreland v. Landmark Furniture, Inc., 752 So. 2d 444, 447 (Miss. App. 1999). "The standard of review in appeals of workers' compensation cases is limited." The appellate court "must determine only whether the decision of the Commission is supported by substantial evidence and whether the law was correctly applied." Scott v. KLLM, Inc., 2009-WC-00415-COA, ¶9 (June 15, 2010) (citing Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So. 2d 823, 826 (Miss. 1991)).

The Appellant is asking this Court to review the evidence, determine the Claimant's testimony was not credible, and substitute its judgment for that of the Commission. As the Mississippi Supreme Court has made clear, "[t]he Commission sits as the ultimate finder of facts; its findings are subject to normal, deferential standards upon review." *Scott, supra*, at ¶9 (citing *Casino Magic v. Nelson*, 958 So. 2d 224, 228 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)).

It is presumed that the Commission found the Appellant's testimony to be credible. Furthermore, Claimant had a disinterested, corroborating witness testify that she reported her injury to him, and that he heard her report the incident to her supervisor the day after her injury, which was the next time she saw her supervisor. (R., pp. 61, 62.) The Commission presumably believed this witness as well.

The Claimant's treating physician, Dr. John J. McCloskey, testified that the history the Claimant gave him regarding the injury at work was consistent with the injury for which he treated her. (General Exhibit 2, p. 23). Dr. McCloskey further testified that, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the disc herniation that necessitated her surgeries was caused,

aggravated, or at least accelerated by the injury she reported in late November of 2005. (General Exhibit 2, p. 23.)

While the Employer/Appellant would rather have the court believe Dr. Fineburg's testimony, *i.e.*, that the Claimant did not report her injury to him as work-related, "[t]he Commission also serves as the ultimate fact finder in addressing conflicts in medical testimony and opinion." *Raytheon Aero. Support Servs. v. Miller*, 861 So. 2d 330, 336 (Miss. 2003). Furthermore, Dr. Fineburg offered no conflicting testimony about the Claimant's medical status, and testified that he would defer to Dr. McCloskey regarding her status, the injury, and the causal relationship between her surgery on January 24, 2006 and her work. (Employer/Carrier Exhibit 3, p. 39.)

Finally, the Court is reminded that "[p]ursuant to Mississippi's public policy in workers' compensation cases, doubtful cases must be resolved in favor of compensation, so as to fulfill the beneficent purposes of the statute." *Moore v. Independent Life and Accident Ins. Co.*, 788 So. 2d 106, 113 (Miss. App. 2001) (citing *Reichhold Chem. Inc. v. Sprankle*, 503 So. 2d 799, 802 (Miss. 1987)).

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court's standard of review in workers' compensation cases is well established and very limited. The Workers' Compensation Commission sits as the finder of fact, *Inman v. Coca Cola/Dr. Pepper Bottling Co. of Memphis, Tennessee*, 678 So. 2d 992, 993 (Miss. 1996), and its findings are "entitled to substantial deference when challenged on appeal to the judiciary." *Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc.*, 641 So. 2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994). "Findings of facts made by the Full Commission are binding on this Court provided they are 'supported by substantial evidence." *Moore*, 760 So. 2d at 787 (citing *Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc.*, 641 So. 2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994)). The Court of Appeals will only reverse the Commission's decision "if it was not supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, or if the judgment contained an error of law." *International Staff Mgt. and Legion Ins. Co. v. Stephenson*, 2008-WC-01641-COA (Mar. 9, 2010).

In explaining the "substantial evidence" standard, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated, "'Substantial evidence, though not easily defined, means something more than just a 'mere scintilla' of evidence, [yet] it does not rise to the level of a 'preponderance of the evidence." *Attala County Nursing Center v. Moore*, 760 So. 2d 784, 788 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Delta CMI v. Speck*, 586 So. 2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991)). The court further explained, "Under the substantial evidence rule, we are further bound from rendering a different decision than that reached by the Full Commission even though the evidence presented may lead us to conclude otherwise had we been sitting as the ultimate finder of fact." *Attala County*, 760 So. 2d at 787-88 (citing *Barnes v. Jones Lumber Co.*, 637 So. 2d 867, 869 (Miss. 1994)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court discussed the deferential standard of review in *Raytheon Aero Support Svcs. v. Miller*, 861 So. 2d 330 (Miss. 2003), where it quoted a 1997 case, stating:

... it is not the role of the circuit court to determine where the preponderance of evidence lies, when the evidence is conflicting, given that it is presumed that the Commission as trier of fact has previously determined which evidence is credible and which evidence is not. This highly deferential standard of review essentially means that this Court and circuit courts will not overturn a Commission decision unless said decision was arbitrary and capricious. . . . Caselaw from this Court indicates that it is only in rather extraordinary cases that a circuit court should reverse the findings of the Commission.

Raytheon, 861 So. 2d at 335 (quoting Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr., 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss. 1997) (citing Metal Trims Indus., Inc. v. Stovall, 562 So. 2d 1293 (Miss. 1990)).

This standard applies when addressing conflicts in medical testimony and opinion as well. "Where medical expert testimony is concerned, this Court has held that whenever the expert evidence is conflicting, the Court will affirm the Commission whether the award is for or against the claimant." *Raytheon*, 861 So. 2d at 336 (quoting *Kersh v. Greenville Sheet Metal Works*, 192 So. 2d 266, 268 (Miss. 1966)).

Legal Argument

The Appellant submits that "[t]he compensability of this claim turns almost entirely upon the credibility of Claimant's testimony as compared with the other available evidence presented," and argues that "[f]inding Claimant credible on this issue though requires several illogical conclusions, primary among these a determination Dr. Fineburg's records were hopelessly inaccurate and his testimony false." *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 14. The Appellant is asking this Court to reevaluate the evidence and make a different decision than the one made by the Full Commission. Respectfully, this is not the role of appellate courts. *See Raytheon, supra* at 335.

"Under settled precedent, courts may not hear evidence in compensation cases.

Rather, their scope of review is limited to a determination of whether or not the decision of the commission is supported by the substantial evidence." Westmoreland v. Landmark Furn., Inc., 752 So. 2d 444 (Miss. App.1999). Furthermore, "[p]ursuant to the substantial evidence standard, an appellate court's belief as to the credibility of witnesses is irrelevant." Raytheon, 861 So. 2d at 336. In the instant case, the decision of the commission is clearly supported by substantial evidence.

The Claimant testified that she hurt her back at work, and a corroborating witness, a coworker, testified that she advised him of her injury the next day, and that he heard her report it to her supervisor. (R., pp. 61, 62.) The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "[w]hen the testimony is undisputed and not so unreasonable as to be unbelievable, taking into account the factual setting of the claim, the claimant's testimony generally ought to be accepted as true."

Westmoreland v. Landmark Furn., Inc. 752 So. 2d 444, 449 (Miss. App. 1999)(citing White v. Superior Products, Inc., 515 So. 2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1987)).

Claimant's corroborating witness, James Wilson, had nothing to gain by testifying on the Claimant's behalf. He testified that he only worked with the Plaintiff "a few weeks, maybe a month." (R., p. 61.) He left his employment with Mississippi Security Police "probably less than a week" after the Claimant's injury because he had already accepted a job at Keesler Air Force Base. (*Id.*). He and the Claimant never socialized outside of work. (R., p. 62.)

The Claimant's testimony is certainly "not so unreasonable as to be unbelievable, taking into account the factual setting of the claim. . . ." See Westmoreland, supra at 449. For example, Mr. Wilson also testified:

I was in the same truck before – the night before she was, and it's a very big truck. And she said as she was trying to get in and out of it, she – I guess she

stumbled or something. And it jarred her back. And I could believe that being a short person because I have difficulty getting in and out of that. (R., 61.)

Dr. John J. McCloskey, the Claimant's treating physician, testified that, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the disc herniation that necessitated her surgeries was caused, aggravated, or at least accelerated by the injury she reported in late November of 2005. (General Exhibit 2, p. 23.) He testified that the history Mrs. Patterson gave him regarding the injury at work was consistent with the injury for which he treated her. (General Exhibit 2, p. 23.) Dr. McCloskey testified, "She said she had been having problems in recent months; but, four days ago, she began to really have difficulty." (General Exhibit 2, at p. 6.)

"Pursuant to Mississippi's public policy in workers' compensation cases, doubtful cases must be resolved in favor of compensation, so as to fulfill the beneficent purposes of the statute." *Moore v. Independent Life and Accident Ins. Co.*, 788 So. 2d 106, 113 (Miss. App. 2001) (citing *Reichhold Chem. Inc. v. Sprankle*, 503 So. 2d 799, 802 (Miss. 1987)). In *Moore*, the claimant, Florence Moore, slipped and fell on an icy parking lot at work on January 23, 1990. *Moore*, 788 So. 2d at 108. She sought medical treatment on February 12, 1990, complaining of pain in her shoulder radiating down her arm. *Id.* The doctor administered a steroid shot and told Mrs. Moore that her problem was arthritis. *Id.* Moore continued to work. *Id.*

Moore did not seek further medical treatment until August 30, 1990, when she went to an emergency room and gave a history of experiencing pain in her shoulder for two to three weeks. *Id.* at 109. "Moore reported no trauma and gave no history of any fall, nor did she relate the problem to work." *Id.* The emergency room physician "took x-rays which showed an inflammatory process around the nerve root which he found compatible with either trauma or degenerative condition." *Id.*

Moore continued to work and did not seek further medical treatment until almost a year later. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, she stopped working, applied for workers' compensation benefits, and was awarded benefits. *Id.* Benefits were discontinued, however, based upon reports of physicians the workers' compensation carrier required Moore to see. *Id.*

Moore thereafter sought treatment from Dr. Danielson on September 17, 1991, approximately twenty months after her fall in the parking lot. *Moore*, 788 So. 2d at 110. Moore gave Dr. Danielson a history of the January 1990 fall, and Dr. Danielson found she had spondylosis at multiple levels and a herniated disc. *Id.* "Dr. Danielson found there was a causal connection between Moore's fall and her herniated disc, but not her spondylosis." *Id.* The Commission concluded there were sufficient medical findings to support a causal connection between the claimant's accident in her employer's parking lot and her injury, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 113.

As in *Moore*, the treating physician in the instant case testified to a causal connection between Claimant Patterson's incident at work and her injury. *See* General Exhibit 2, p. 23. James Wilson, a completely disinterested party, testified that the Claimant told him she had hurt her back, and he corroborated Claimant's testimony that she reported hurting her back to her supervisor on November 20, 2005, the day after the incident occurred. (R., p. 60.) The Claimant testified that she did not tell anyone in a superior position to her supervisor because she felt she had done her part, and that "when it went up the chain of command, then they'll get back with me." (R., p. 28.) Mrs. Patterson reported the injury to her supervisor, as she was instructed to do, and she should not be penalized for her supervisor's refusal to properly handle the report of injury.

The Employer/Carrier has placed great emphasis on the fact that Mrs. Patterson did not give Dr. McCloskey a history of having injured herself at work during his initial examination of her. However, Dr. McCloskey noted in his operative report, which was dictated on January 24, 2006 and transcribed on January 27, 2006, that the Claimant "had for some time been having problems with back and leg pain, but things got a lot worse three or four days ago." *See* General Exhibit 1, pp. 90/97-92/97. This statement of the Claimant's history reported to Dr. McCloskey at the time of her admittance to the hospital is completely consistent with Mrs. Patterson's testimony regarding the timing of her injury and increasing pain, although she may not have told Dr. McCloskey on the day of her admittance that the problems which had started in recent months were the result of an incident at work.

Dr. McCloskey testified that at the time he was taking her initial history, "the whole emphasis there was that it didn't matter what the problem was, she needed to get fixed right away." (General Exhibit 2, p. 30.) He further testified that he "wasn't really interested in all this stuff," he was just interested in her paralysis. (General Exhibit 2, p. 45.) He stated, "it could be my fault that the documentation is not there." (*Id.*) Dr. McCloskey further characterized Mrs. Patterson as not being "your usual good historian." (General Exhibit 2, pp. 45-46.)

The instant case is quite similar to the 2006 case of *Imperial Palace Casino v. Wilson*, 960 So. 2d 549 (2006). When Johnie Wilson went to work for Imperial Palace in 2001, he suffered from chronic back pain. *Wilson*, 960 So. 2d at 551. Mr. Wilson's job duties included carrying bags of coins weighing twenty to thirty pounds. *Id.* The facts of Mr. Wilson's injury and early medical treatment were summarized by the Court of Appeals as follows:

Wilson worked a full shift on October 25 and on October 26 of 2002. On October 27, Wilson woke up with a stiff neck. Despite his discomfort, he returned to work and worked throughout the week, although he testified that his pain intensified as the days passed. On October 31, 2002, Wilson saw Dr. Pacita

Coss, a general physician. Dr. Coss noted that Wilson appeared to be in severe pain during their meeting. Wilson worked on November 1, but his pain was so severe on November 2 that he was unable to go to work. On November 4, Dr. Coss sent Wilson to a hospital emergency room due to the severity of his pain.

Wilson, 960 So. 2d at 551.

Mr. Wilson later met with Dr. Lowry, a neurosurgeon. *Id.* The intake form from that visit indicated that he was "probably" injured at work as he lifted bags of coins. *Id.* Wilson ultimately underwent surgery by Dr. Lowry. *Id.*

Imperial Palace argued that there was no causal relationship between the work and Mr. Wilson's injury. *Id.* at 552. Imperial Palace claimed that Mr. Wilson "merely mentioned in his in-take form [with Dr. Lowry] that he probably was injured at work and that he had been carrying coins the day before but it did not bother him until the next day." *Id.* The Court of Appeals addressed Imperial Palace's argument, stating:

While it is true that Wilson denied being injured at work during his first meeting with Dr. Lowry, Dr. Lowry further explained in his deposition that he and Wilson both thought that Wilson's work likely caused his injury: "I remember him talking to me about this, wanting to know what I thought about that. And he was wondering it, too: 'Well, did my kind of work—' 'Since you don't want me to lift these heavy bags, did that have anything to do with [the injury]?"

Id.

Dr. Lowry later wrote a letter to Mr. Wilson's attorney, stating, "I do feel that the kind of work that he was doing prior to the onset of this problem, did contribute to the cervical disc herniation, at the very least." *Id.* at 552-53. The Court of Appeals concluded that substantial evidence existed from which the Commission could have determined that Wilson's employment caused his injury. *Id.* at 553. In reaching its conclusion, the Court of Appeals noted:

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